
INTERVln:EE: LARRY E. TENPLE (TAPE :/fo2) 

INTERVIE\'!ER: JOE B. FRANTZ 

June 12, 1970 Aus tin, Texas 

F: This is intervieH number tHO ,vith Hr. Larry Temple in his office in 

Austin. The intervieHer is still Joe B. Frantz. The date is June 12, 1970. 

Larry, ,ve got you hired at the Hhi te House yesterday. 

T: That's good. 

F: And so I think ue "lill go from there. Did you knm~ what you ,vere going 

to be doing right off, or did your dutil!s kind of settle down on you. 

T: Oh, I think they really sort of settled in ,·]hen I got there. The Presi-

dent was obviously farailiar "ith my relationship "lith Tom C1[;.rk, and 

therefore, assumed I Has on a good relationship basis ,-lith Ramsey Clark, 

as I 'vas. About the only basic responsibility he initially told r::e about 

uas that he ~lanted De to serve as his liaison 'tVith the D.~partment of 

Justice. l{hatever matters the Department of Justice was involved in that 

either related to the I·Jhite House or needed to be communicated to the 

White House, he said should come through me. Nm.;r, obvious ly, there ,·lere 

a lot of exceptions '\·.l1ere there Here direct contacts bet't.;eenthe Presi-

dent and the Attorney General or the President and the Deputy Attorney 

General, but by-end-large he wanted mc to serve as the contact at the 

Whitc House--or the liaison at the White House--with the Department of 

Justice. 

So I guess the first thing that I did was go over to the Departnent 

of Justice and meet: the people ov~r there. I knew Rumsey. I knew him  

ve r Y 'ole 11 • I knC\.1 sone other pcoplc--Frank Hozencraft Hho Has over '-~~ 
. COpy WJ UBRARY'~ 
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I had known him when he was practicing law in Texas. But they were about 

the only tivO over there that I did knm.. I Ivent over there and becmne 

acquainted Hith the other people in the Department of Justice, and told 

them who I was and why I was, So to speak. 

F: I thin'~ we hit everybody in the Department of Justice---at least Assistant 

Secre ta:..-y up, and qui te a number of others--Ed Heis 1 Jr. So I feel that 

itJs myoId stomping ground. 

T: But R3!.:sey ,;vas nice enough to invite me over to the luncheons. I believe 

they had once a Heck on Tuesday or Hednesday bet\Jeen the Attorney General 

or the Deputy Attorney General and the various Assistant Attorneys 

General, who were in charge of the sections or departments. So the first 

thing I did \vas get acquainted idth the Departr.1ent of Justice and its I 

operations. 

F: What were your principal problems vis-à-vis the Justice Department? One, 

I suppose, you'd be checking with them on Presidential appointments. 

T: Not rea~ly all Presidential appointments, because only those that related 

to the Judiciary and lawyers, so to speak. 

The way the Presidential appointment process was set up as I'm sure 

you kno~ from your other interviews, is that most of the Presidential 

appoint,-".2.n!::s initia~ed ';vith John Macy. Although he Has chairman of the 

Civil Service CO,,",c:lission, he also sort of wore a second hat--I think the 

newspapers dubbed him as a talent scout for the President--and the 

recorr'J1;er..ci-=-,~iol'S fo!: most boards and cormnissions and Presidential appoint-

ments o:Ci:;i;1C.tvd ,lith John. But those related to the legal end in any 

Hay or :-::;::~--()~·."iOLlsly :111 the Judicial appointments and such appointments 

as the ~)=::..-~: ui: ?2.:.-,~o~.~ <lml Parole:s, .:lppointr;:ents of that character--
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originated with the Department of Justice. Those came through me, and 

I usually had a considerable number of discussions with people at the 

Department of Justice about the appointments and about the people involved 

before we got to the posture of a memo recommending people. 

In a very broad sense most of the Judicial appointments involved 

patronage, but that's only in a broad sense. When you get to a federal 

district judgeship in Florida, the Departmant of Justice obviously checked 

with the Senator from Florida. Senator Holland in that case would make 

a recommendation. But that didn't mean that he had the power of appoint-

ment, as some people sometimes think because occasionally he would come 

up with someone and Ramsey and Warren Christopher, who was the Deputy 

Attorney General and really lucid after most of the Judicial appoint-

meuts, might conclude after a conversation ,vith me that maybe there ,-Jere 

more talented, more able, more qualified people than the one the parti-

culQr Senator recom:;,cnded. Obviously you needed the Senator t s recom-

mendation and/or approval. 

F: You didn't name CarsVlell. 

T: No, He did not na!1~e CarS-';'le 11. But 'tole' d go back and usually encourage 

the Senator to decide this Has his nominee if ,ve had an especially talented 

guy. 

F: In the early stages Vlhen you first Hent there in the fall, you didn't 

have a great de.n=' of civil rights problems) did you? This came--

T: No, not really at th3.t time. I think in--October and November and 

Dcce~ber of 1967 was sort of an interim period after some earlier 

prohlcms and before some later ones, the Resurrection City type thing 

and others that came on--tlte riots in \-Jasbin2;ton and all later on. 

LBJ Presidential Library 
http://www.lbjlibrary.org

ORAL HISTORY TRANSCRIPT 
Lyndon B. Johnson Library Oral Histories [NAID 24617781]

More on LBJ Library oral histories: 
http://discoverlbj.org/exhibits/show/loh/oh



4 

during that period He didn't have any really significant problems. That's 

not to say there Hercn't any, just none of the significance of the others 

that came later. 

F: Just something to be vigilant about. 

T: That's right. 

F: Did you run into any difficulties of lines of authority bet\Jeen you and 

Harry McPherson? 

T: No, not at all. Harry McPherson and I had been friends for a long time. 

I met Harry when I was in Washington in 1959. He was then, I guess, 

an attorney for the Senate Democratic Policy Committee, working for Sena-

tor Johnson, aad obviously had been a very able assistant to Lyndon 

JohnsOE for Som2 tiw.,'2, and one of the p('ople of Hhom Lyn,'cm Johnson has 

been very fond for so long. I had no problems ,-lith :~arry. 

Harry \'las engaged in such activities as revie~ving tariffs that came 

over fro!:! the State Depa;~tL<'nt that were required to come to the White 

House fo!" Presidential approval. He HQuld revie", those and send them in 

to the President and make recoF.u.;endations. Things like. the international 

cases that car.:e over from the Civil Aeronautics Board, the federal law 

requi~es t~2.t CAB actions on international matters come to the lv"hite 

House for Presidential approval. He would review those along "'ith a 

fellow t1aIT.eG DeVier Pierson who later beca..'1'.e an operative on his mID, 

but at that ti~2 sort of was an assistant to Harry. Harry ",as doing a 

consider-a.:; -:'12 amount of speech ~.Jriti.n;;. The Special Counsel tag :r.lay have 

been a lic:-:le 0it of (1 misno:ner of :J:J.rt of his responsibilities, because 

he ~·l2.S a -le::::- ::.jle speech Hritcr :Ired the Prcsidc:.nt greatly valued his 

judgr;,cn': ~,:::.!. ::~s <",bility. So He nc:'/c:c did quite cross paths in uhat ~"..:! 
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were doing, and there Has clearly no conflict. Partly because Harry and 

I were and arc guod friend~, there wasn't going to be any kind of a 

conflict. 

F: Hhen you move on tmvards spring and you get in~ ,:, the appointments end, 

does this change ,,,hat you've been doing, or is this just something 

added on to what you're already doing? 

5 

T: I think jus t an add-on. You know, being on the ~Vhite Hall ::e [staff] is 

sort of a kind of evolution type operatior-.. of any kind of position. That 

is that the longer you're there the more you know, and the more you 

understand and the more you're able to do and you wind up doing more. 

So it really was just an evolution where I started doing more. Obviously, 

at firs t I ..... ·,.'.sn' t sufficiently acquain ~ed 1']~ th the operation to do very 

much more than just stay arou:~d and watch. When I got there I was located 

in an office there on the first floor of the West Wing that was just one 

office removed from the President's. His Oval Office, you'll recall, is 

in the Southeast corner, and then Marvin Matson had the office immediate ly 

adjoining it, and then I was immediately adjoining Marvin in an office that 

Jack Valenti had occupied and it had rem~ined vacant after Jack left. 

So I was sort of in close proximity where I could watch, and the Presi-

dent told me that he Hanted me to attend all of the Cabinet meetings and 

various other meetings that he 't.;'ould suggest from time to time so I could 

just sit over in the corner like a little bug and vratch what was going 

on, and hopefully learn a little bit about what was going on. 

F: You got a good political education. 

T: Ri01t. After lId been there less than a month, I started what we referr~d 

to as the "bedroom duty"--didn't refer to it that way unkindly, but I 
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think you know that Lyndon Johnson started most of his activities in the 

morning really from his bedroom. He didn't get over to his office very 

early, but he would get up early and would kind of do a day's work in 

his bedroom in the morning. 

When I got there Marvin Watson was going over to his bedroom between 

eight and eight-thirty every morning, and Hould stay over there and vic;it 

with the President, go over with the President the night reading which 

I ~ill refer to in just a second; and take whatever instructions th0 

President hac for the day and relay them. I started going over with 

Marvin, and I started getth!.::; S0::12 of the instructions. The President 

found it much more expedi.tious to give bventy instructions to Harvin--

later to mc--and ask that we convey them on to the Cabinet members, Some 

Senator, sOr;",e I,lhite House staff member. He found it easier and quicker 

to do it that "\'I;},) t'tlan for him to call each one of them. So I guess, 

in a seIlse, 'de "\Vere couriers of inror1.'.ation. Even though I might not have 

a lot of contact \-lith, let's say, the Interior Department, maybe on a 

particular day he tlOuld say, "Call Secretary Udall and ask him ,vaht 

such-and-such is,'' or, "Ask him to do so-and-so." Then I would come 

back with a response. 

F: Did you sub-delegate some of that, or is there a level below which you 

cannot go from that kind of a protocol standpoint? 

T: I don't knm·7 that it's a protocol standpoint so much as the ~vay Lyndon 

Johnson ;.;o:d:s. There's not much of that you can de legate, because he 

will re3all that he told you to call Secretary Wirtz. Maybe at eleven 

0' clod: ill the ,~ornin6 "fter having told you that at eight-thirty, he ' 11 

suddenly i~hink of Secretary Wirtz and Hant to LUOlv ,,,hat the anSt"er is. 
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He'll call and say, l't.]hat did Bill Wirtz say?l! \'lell, it's not really 

a satisfactory anSHer to say, "I don't kn()~".', Hr. President. I asked 

my assistant to call him "because the President expected, ~-lhen he asked 

you to do something, that you HEre going to do it. That caused a little 

bit of a difficulty at times because if he asked you to call fifte..en 

different people, you might start calling them and have called fourteen, 

and he'll call and t-lant to knoH what the fifteE:nth said; and you said, 

''t.Jell, I haven't called him yet," and then you've got to explain ~-lhy. 

So that caused some problems. 

F: Did you ever jus t flat run out of time? You must have on a fe,v occa-

sions. 

T: Yes. I think it's accurate to say "ran out of time." One of the 

prob lems was that a good par~ of tll(' morning had already gone by the 

time I 'vou~ - get back to the office. If I 'tvould shoH up over there at 

eight or eight-thirty, I might stay over there ,-7ith hira until he came to 

the office at maybe ten, ten-fifteen, ten-thirty_ By that time, a good 

part of the morning had gone by, and you had to start doing all these 

things. Obviously there Here phone calls waiting and various activities 

to do. 

F: Okay, now, you don't get back and get on your calls until ten o'clock. 

Secretary Wirtz has shmved up at nine o'clock, at nine-thirty he goes 

into a fairly top level committee meeting. When they say the White House 

called, does that supercede the meeting, or do you wait until he gets 

out of the meeting? 

T: It depends. That really depends on my gauging of the urgency of the call, 

because if I ;:lsk the \-Illite House operator to get Secretary Wirtz on the 
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phone and she comes back and says, "He is in a meeting. Do you uant me 

to call him from the m2e.ting," then that's my deci.:;ion. And if I say, 

"~\3S, tell hif'"l it's important," and call him from the meeting, he'll 

come from tLc: meeting. Now, obviously, I ought to use somr.! discretion 

about that. I'll probably be advised Hhat kind of meeting he's hewing 

and how important that meeting is. 

F: Did you generally guress right? 

T: Oh, I think so. By-and-large the answer is "yes," you call him from the 

meeting, because when the President \v2"~S to know something, you're 

probably going to get a call from the President later on in the morning 

asking what response you've had. 

If the President says, "Call Ramsey Clark and tell him that by 

tomorrc...';'; eVe::: -6 I ,:ant a Hritten rep.)rt on XYZ," obviously you don't 

need to call Ramsey from that mee ting. On occasion he ,vould say, "Call 

Ramsey and tell him I Hant a report on sorr:ething o " And I'd call and 

Ramsey Hould be tied up; and I Hould call Harren Christopher and say, 

1~"arre::1, the President Hants me to call Rarr,sey and give him this nessage--

that he ~'7ants such-and-such report. I Hant to tell you so maybe you 

can get st2.r-ted on it, and I'll talk to Ramsey when he gets out of the 

meeting he's in." So knowing the Under Secretary or the Deputy usually 

had a pretty beneficial aspect to it. 

F: Were the li~2s of responsibility and the lines of authority as tightly 

drawn ~n a sense as they Hcre under John Connally? I realize you're 

dealiY'.:; ' .. ;it::' 2. much different and laq;er situation. But the President 

a fie,e sense of or~aniz2.tion and then sets out to defeat it. 

T: \:Icll,'-l~ ,.~_ reo..lly sure what the anS'..-cr to that question is. You've 
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got to remember that the difference between the White House operation and 

the Governor's operation is maybe the difference between a General Motors 

Corporation operation on the one hand and a small closely held corporation 

in Austin, Texas, on the other. The lines of responsibility were very, 

very clear and were very closely followed under John Connally. When I 

was there as the first assistant, with some exceptions, such as budget--

which I didn't handle--and press relations which George Christian handled 

before he left--with those exceptions most of the ultimate responsibility 

on the other matters relative to the Governor's office rested with rne 

insofar as the Governor was can' r'(ll~d 0 Nmv I might delegate to various 

people on the staff--

F: You were the executive officer, in a sense, of this ship. 

T: Right. Hhen he wanted to know something, he looked to me. I might look 

to others. Well, the federal g0vernment is so overpowering, so to speal". 

There's not anyone key guy who' s running the show and everything is 

being funneled through him. Probably Marvin Watson fit that pattern more 

than anybody, but still there were many, many things that didn't funnel 

through him. None of the special assistants went through him when they 

needed to get information to the President except they might send a memo 

to the President and hand it to Marvin, and say, !~larvin) you'll be in'the 

President's office before I will--uill you hand this to the President." 

Or they might say, "Marvin I need to see the boss, and when he gets a 

spare moment ask him if he can see me." In that sense they might go 

through Harvin, but as far as so.ying, ''Ma!:"vin. here 1 s some information 

I've got, and ,-lOuld you talk to the President about it and let me knm.;r 

what his answer is," that didn't happen very much. It happened some. 

J 
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The White House staff, it seems to me, didn't follow very rigid lines 

of organization. 

I think the President, as you say, had a great sense of organization, 

but I also think that by-and-large when he had something to do, something 

that he wanted done, he would talk to whoever was the nearest and handiest. 

A lot of times I got involved in things that I guess on the organizational 

chart were outside of the realm of my responsibility, but I was there 

when he said, "Call Secretary Udall and talk to him about such-and-such 

a park. Find out what  the details are of the gift  of the Eisenhower 

farm as a historical monument to the United States government." I think 

a lot of what he did was get the nearest man unless there was some great 

exp rtise involv~d. If I were the nearest and closest, he obviously 

wouldn't ask ID2 about some foreign policy matter because he knew I wasn't 

qualified. TI J.t's a Halt RostoH bailiHick, and ~.;ralt Has the one he 

called, or Secretary Rusk, or someone else. 

F: Has there T7!ucn j od:2ying for pmler among the Whi te House staff, or was 

it possible to att2in power under this syste~? 

T: Oh, I guess there's ahvays some jockeying for pm·Jer. I'd say that based 

on hearsa.y of ';·7: tt had transpired prior to the time I got there, that it 

wasn't nearly as prevalent Hhile I was there as maybe before. But I 

think the,-"c '.Jas Some.: jl'ckeying for pm-1e.r and jockeying for favor. I 

never felt during the time I was there that I was in competition with 

anybody cr t:lat anybody thought they '\Vere in cornpetition with me. Of 

course, I l:C1~~: vcrJ7
, very \-1ell George Chris ti.:m ,,,hen I Hent up there. 

I krleH F~,-c,'~~, ~:at.:::;on. I knc:,;·, IIilrry lIcPlwrson, and ob,-iously got to knm., 

the others. I didn't really feel like I was in any competition with them 
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or that they thought they Here with me. And ,vi th regard to the· ones 

I didn't knmv that I met up there and got to knmv ,vhile I was there, they 

didn r t really knmv ,,,hat kind of breed of cat I ,vas. I had come from 

working for what they thought was the President's closest friend, John 

Connally, and I somehmv got on the bedroom aetail where I was seeing the 

President the first thing every morning when they weren't. I don't think 

anybody thought that I had anything that they particularly wanted, or 

that they wanted to be competitive with me--number one. Number two, 

they really didn r t knmv hmv to appraise me. 

F: Did you move your family up there right away? 

T: Yes. Imat He did Has to buy a house up there. Again, back to George 

Christian. My ,d£e and his Hife Here very good friends and our children 

were good friends ,.,7ho hL·d played together, so when I·]e got up there we 

found that George and Joanne had just purchased a home in McLean, 

Virginia. ~fuen I\'e started looking for a house, \·le found one about 

half-a-block from them clOim the street that ,vas neHly built and ready to 

be sold. It had a lot of appealing aspects, particularly the closeness 

to the Christians, so He bou;:;ht it. They moved up there, I guess, 

within tHO 'iveeles from the time I got up there. 

F: Is there a tendency to jack the price on White House employees, or is 

there a tendency to play with them; or could you tell that made any 

difference? 

T: I couldn't tell any difference one way or the other. I think the people 

that--

F: Kind of like buying a house here. 

T: Yes. I thinl~ the people. from ilhom I purchased the house had alrQady 
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really mal' a deal with me on it prior to even knowing why I was up there. 

I didn't notice any difference. 

F: Did the President take an interest in th~t sort of thing--the fact th~t 

you are we 11-housed, ~vhere you're 1 i ving, and so on; or is he too busy 

for that? 

T: No. He did, and does. He didn't really get involved in my house 

purchase as such, but he told me that he would be interested and that 

if he could be helpful, he wanted to and he mentioned it a time or two. 

He didn't really do anything, but I ah.1ays felt like if I had any prob lems 

I could have called on him. I wouldn't have. 

F: When did you find time to look? 

T: Really, the first '.];:8Ic I .. 7as up there. I '\Vent on the payroll and started 

working. I'd take off th::..:ee or four hO:.lrs. G(,0rge Christian put me on 

a real estate agent who was very helpful and found some houses. Then I 

finally nan.'oHed it doun to a couple. Louann came up and picked the one 

she preferred. We just bought it and closed and moved in fairly ~apidly. 

F: Not to get personal in your situation but being general, is there a 

problem with what you might call White House staff widows on an overall 

basis-- ? 

T: There's a great prol ~cm. I'm willing to get personal on mine. I think 

mine is probably a typical situation. My wife is as devoted--

F: You plunked her dmm in a strange town--

T: yes. She Has and is, I should SQy as devoted to Lyndon Johnson as I am. 

She was de 1. i;hted for n:e to have this opportunity. She obvi..ous ly enjoyed 

being i::1 ~;,"::;~lin;:;toll in the sense of letting our childn=n se.e son:e of the 

history of this country. It was an added benefit to us in that my wife's 
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brother--whom you know--Pope Atkins--was teaching at the Naval Academy; 

and he and his farr.i ly ~vcre living in Annapolis, only fifty miles from 

Washington, so there ~vas that closeness. 

But there is a difference bet~veen what I did in leaving the house 

at a quarter to eight or So in the morning, and being gone till--well, 

I'd say maybe seven-thirty or eight is the earlist I'd leave, and it 

might be t,,7elve 0:' one. That clearly is a long day, ;"'.nd could be a 

very tiring day except there's a stih1Ulus to being involved in the activity 
I 

of the White House that just overcomes the tiredness that you have. Well, 

there's a difference in that on the one hand, and being, as you say, the 

Wh;.te House HidoH on the other hand Hho is tr. ··e at home grappling with 

children and living out in the s·.,burbs 1-lith not a Hhole lot to do. You 

kno'>!, not having much family life in the sense of my being home to ent 

supper ~vi th the children and going out in the evenings and that sort of 

thing. 

F: You were never counted on for the evening meal. 

T: No. As a matter of fact--

F: If daddy came home, it Has a bonus. 

T: As a matter of fact, I believe it's accurate to say that during all the 

time I was there I never had dinner in the evening during the week with 

my children. There were many, many times that my children were in 

bed when I left in the morning and they were in bed when I got home. I 

might be four or five days or from weekend to weekend seeing them awake. 

No", that clearly Has a problem. It wasn't just a problem ,vith my \V'ifc. 

I t Has a pro!..> 10,~: I think with all the White House wives. 

The Pres ident did his hes t to cOTt'.pensate for that. He reco[;nizcd that 

. COP\' lSi UBRA~Y· j 
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problem--he wasn't blind to it. What he did Has he would try to do things 

for the wives and include the wives when he couId, particularly on social 

occasions, to compensate for it. The President and Mrs. Johnson ,vere 

exceptionally generous to me and to others, like the social occasions 

at the White House, being invited to a State dinner, or some other 

social occasion. They invariably had two or three or four White House 

staff members and their wives. They knew that this was a special thing 

that the wives enjoyed--well, the husbands enjoyed it too. You knmv, 

being invited to a State dinner is not the run-of-the-mili sort of thing 

that a guy's ever going to get a ch~nce to do again. 

F: Not only th:" Ambassador or sorr.ebody that you may be mee ting or the head 

of stat~, but I think so often the guest list itself is quite in' ·iguing. 

T: T .. n on ,.]eekends, as I mentioned to you yesterday, the boat trip. During 

the spring and SUIilTI'.er Hhen the President ,·lould go out on the Sequoia or one 

of his yachts on a Saturday aftcn,oon late or a Sunday afternoon, he Ivould 

invite us. After "le' d been there for a good period of ti1.'.e, maybe I I d 

been go:ce 2nd ,·jorking, I'd have a tendency to decline Hhat I thought 'vas 

a thou;;htful and generous invitation because it really ,·;ras only a husbar..d 

and wif'2 sort of activity, and understandably so. I would decline and 

want to go home and be with my children as opposed to going out with him. 

That was fine with him. He was just being nice to invite us, and it 

wasn't a command performance of any kind. 

F: Incidenntally for the sa.kc of the typist, these double names are always 

a probl~~--dDes your wife spell hers together or--

T: All one wo~2--Louann. 

F: All rig:"t. Gicl ycugct up to C:J.~:p DL;,vid? 
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I never got to Camp David durin2; the time I Has there. He invited me one 

weekend. That was again one of the cases i"here it u<:..s just_ an invitation 

and not a command performance, and I begged off to be ,,\lith my family. 

He didn r t use Camp David as much while I Has there as apparently he had 

done earlier. He probably i"ent up there only a half-a-dozen times--

When he was out on the Sequoia or something similar, did he relax? 

Yes. 

Nmv Harry Truman used to go on the Hilliarnsburg and play poker~ you knmJ, 

around the clock and so on, but you didn't have anything like this? 

This was just sitt ~ng around talking, wasn't it? 

Sitting around talking, maybe having a drink, and eating. Food was 

usually served. 

I started to say what he does as a pasttime, or did as a pasttime, 

and I think still does, is tell stories. In my judgment Lyndon Johnson 

unquestionably is the best story teller I ever heard or knew. That's not 

to say he didn't mix in a little busir.ess, because he did. But it 

might go from telling stories to mixing in a little business and making 

inquiries. 

I learned a good trait by being around him, and that is that I always 

carried a pen or pencil and Some kind of paper with me wherever I ~-1as 

around him, because invariably sOillething would come to his mind that he'd 

ask you to do. My memory '\-las not sufficiently good that I ,,;'anted to 

relnember fifteen different things. So I started carrying little cards 

or pieces of paper, that I would write on. 

I ''lould say that ,;hile he rela:-:ed out on an activity like going on 

one or the boats> I don't think he reo.ll y relaxed as much as he did "lhen 
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he ""auld c:~:nc dm.m the the L13J R~nch. I started that trek with him--~'l~ 11, 

every trip he went on 1.Jhile I >-13S there, he was nice enough to take me 

with him. After I'd only been there about six Heeks, I went on the 

around-the-world trip with him to Prime Minister Holt's funeral where 

we left \-lashington going I-lest and cmne back from the East four-and-a-

half days lat2r. But I would come with him when he came do,vn to the 

LBJ Ranch, and I think unquestionably that was the best tonic he had 

because he loved that country. As I think you know and anybody knows 

that has ever been down there, what he usually does is just get out in 

the car and drive around the ranch. It really is a great tonic for him 

because it relaxed him and took his mind, at least temporarily, off some 

of the problems. I think it helped him sort of recuperate from the 

tiredness of betng President and really to go back full-stearn-ahead again. 

F: You believe in the short Presidential vacation? 

T: Oh, yes. I really believe that whether it's President Nixon going to 

Florida or California, or President Johnson coming to the LBJ Ranch--

F: Kennedy to Hyannisport. 

T: Kennedy to HyaLlnisport, I really think it r s almost imperative that a 

Preside:-tt get out of tmvn on Vleekends when he can. There f s nothing that 

he can do for relaxin;:; other than wal!~ around the ~.rnite House grounds, 

I guess, there at the l{hite House; because he r s right there where all the 

heat and all the pressure is. He needs to kind of get ffivay from it. 

F: He really is, in a sense, imprisioned by those fences. 

T: Yes. I knew from newspaper accounts Harry Truman used to get out and 

walk aroulCC[. No Oele else seemed to do that. Eut I think getting moJay 
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F: Did Marvin move out at the President's initiative, or was Marvin getting 

restless and this seemed like a good place to put him? Did you get any 

feeling for that? 

T; I think that the President viewed Marvin, and correctly so, as the most 

loyal White House assistant he ever had and more than that. I heard him 

on many occasions refer to "dear, kind, sweet Marvin." He found Marvin 

not only to be loyal, but depend- ')le. He never had any questions about 

Harvin carrying out what he asked him to do. I believe, although the 

President never said it, that once he decided that he was not going to 

run again and the vacancy was then created when Larry O'Brien resigned 

as Postmaster General to assist Senator Robert Kennedy's campaign for the 

PreSidency, I believe the President decided ~hat the appointment to the 

Cabinet was a ,yay that he could re"t'lard a dear) loyal, dedicated friend. 

I think that he was appointing Marvin over there really as a reward. raore 

than anything else. Moving him out or getting rid of him I'm sure was 

never a thought that c)'ossed his mind at all. I don r t think it crossed 

anybody else's mind that I kneiv of. 

F: As far as you could tell, was the President miffed by Larry O'Brien moving 

out to join Robert Kennedy's entourage, or did he feel that this was 

just part of his political perogative? There wasn't any question that 

Bobby in one sense, was running on an anti-Administration ticket. 

T: Right. I'm not sure miffed is the Hord, and I'm not sure irritated is 

the Hord. There's something in-bet,·]een in thinking that it IS the usual 

political perogative on the one hand and being miffed on the other. 

There's some middle ground in there with a word I can't find that 

ch,::cractcrizcd his attitUQ2. I don't think he was really very happy 
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about it. 

F: It didn't really impair relations? The men didn't get non-communicable 

for at·:hile? 

T: No. Of course, the PrLsident recognized that Larry O'Brien was close to 

the Kennedys. You knm.;r, he'd been brought into the ~Thite House stru-..ture 

by tL8 Kennedys and was an assistant under President Kennedy. He Has 

put in the Cabinet by Lyndon Johnson, not President Kennedy. But he 

unu,'stood ane recognized the relationship beD'Jeen Larry and the Kennedys. 

I recall very vividly, because I i.;as sitting on the appointments desl:, 

and took L3rry in and sm" hi;'l come out ",hen he told the President what 

he Has [;oing to do. I t must have been a very traumatic thing f,,·~ Larry, 

bec.-.use Larry car.:e out \,Lth tears in hie: eyes and told me when he left, 

he said: III believe that's one of the finest, Ii"3t understanding, kinde:s"": 

men that I have ever knmm." And he said, III \,mnt to talk to you about 

it so1.''2 tiI:12, Larry, but I just can't talk about it nOl-]." l-lith that: he 

left. I'I:1 sure that the President just told him that "if that's ,,,hat: 

you want to do, I'll miss you from the Cabinet, but have at it," in a 

much kinder way than that probably. 

F: As far as you could tell in your role, did the Cabinet tend to line up 

liberal-conservative, or pro and COil. In other i'lOrds, were there 

schisms within the Cabinet or did the Cabinet just sort of regroup 

accordi~g to issue? 

T: You kno;'7, the rc weren't any kind of cliques ui thin the Cabinet. The 

Cab il1C: ,_ cEdn I t operate in a Nay that "lOuld permit cliques. You'll recall 

that-: the C:.J.~inC: t r:,c:t every other \!cJ.:-:.c:sday, as I rccall--records HQuid 

reflect correctly when it was. Other than that, the Cabinet didn't really 
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ge t tog.:' ther on any organized basis. I t might be that tHO members of 

the Cabinet ,·lOuld get together on some project in which the two 'tv('~'e 

interested, but they didn't really get together. They sort of operated 

independently as each of them were heads of independent agencies. They 

had their communic.3.tic!!,s and contact with the President. 
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But there ,·.'ere varying philosophies. I think as you ,·lOuld see tmvard 

the end of the Administration -- to use the trite phrase as everybody uses--

there were hawks and doves within the Administration on Vietnam toward  \'1erc~  

the end. I think earlier they were all what everybody, would characterize 

as hawks, if you a :-;ume hm·;rks are supporting the Administration and doves 

are those who don't support the Administration on Vietnam.  But I didn't

notice any cliques or schisms or anything. 

F: Did you ever get the feeling that the President would like to have had 

dumped one or more of them, but felt that it ,,,as politically umvise? 

T: Yes. I r 11 tell you about a si. tuation that I guess really isn r t widely 

known that happer:' d \-lith regard to one of the Cabinet members. I guess 

this doe.~n I t chronologically get us there, and He. may 't-lant to come back 

to an earlier period. The Pre~'idE::nt had what I 't-lould characterize as an 

interesting run-in \"ith Secretary Wirtz that gives a pretty good insight 

as to both of them, and particularly an insight as to both of them, and 

particularly an insight to Lyndon Johnson during the transitional period. 

In the fall of 1967, the President had met with all the Governors 

at the National Governors Conference \"hich me t in tvashington. They met 

Hith hir.1 in the \·nlitc House. At that time, he assured all of these: 

Covernors that there: Vlould be no chaL':;cs made in any of the organization2.l 

structure or pro8ram opcr.:1tiun of the federal government th.:1t had a direct 
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impact and a direct effect on state government and state government opera-

tions without prior consultation with the governors. He said, "If we're 

going to do anything up here that really drastically changes how you 

operate your state government or any part of it, we'll talk to you before 

we do." 

F: Were they wanting this sort of reassurance, or did he do it on his own 

initiative? 

T: Yes! Well, he did it on his own initiative, but it was very welcome, 

and they wanted i ,: • 

F: They felt a bit u· :rtain. 

T: Right. And that \-las his policy. It '.Jas a policy that was clearly 

eunucL'1.ted a" d articulated in a me1:..:;randum that the Bureau of the Budget 

sent aro,-:~d to al:. of the agencies thereafter. So everybody kl't;W those 

were the ground rul~s. 

S01.:e tir:-:e in the l2ter spring or summer of 1968, Secretary Wirtz, 

Under Secrcl::2.ry Jim "~ynolds, a man named Stanley Rutten~erg, Hho l.Jas 

head of ~ianpJ:!er Training as I recall--

F: We've interviewed him. 

T: Joe Califai.10 on the I·i'bite House staff, and Jim Gaither who was his 

assistant, started ~ee~i~g relative to a reorganization of the Labor 

Department, particularly relating to the Manpm"er Development Program. 

The reorganization had a very substantial im?2.ct on the way the state 

employment services operated their departments. 

These ?~cliQin2ry discussions started, and I later found out were 

held Hit:l:::Ji.lt :::12 pJ:'QC;ident's 1~r:O'·.'led.0J'. Once SO..,ok11inr. got ;n a kl' d f t.. .~_ ... ~ ... , ~ b .l. • n 0 

firm orc!C'l', ;::'lcn he: \·;as flpprisecl of it. But they s t.:lrteci \Jorking on this 
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reorganization, .:md I think eithc:~' Secretary Wirtz or Under Secretary 

Reynolds, or mayLe }j' _ Ruttenb, ~'g--Assistant Secretary Ruttenberg--had 

a fnl pre liminary contact~ Hith sOP": of the state emploYl4ent service 

individuals--somebody like members of the Texas Emplo"yr:lcnt Commission 

,. ~d their counterparts in the other ~·tates. But those discussions. with 

. ·c" . ':ate employment servj.ce repres(',,' i:atives were just discussious and 

seeking information as oppose(] to saying, ''Here t s the overall p:t.:;n we 

propose. D,:> you hav .. any advice, suggestions, or counsel?" T:·.·.t never 

happened. 

I" any eVC"i-,i', Octobe:;. of 1968 rolled around. There t s Or'.:' other 

s':"tting tha' I want to stop at as an asi .. to. In late September or 

e:' cly October, Secretary ':;irtz made a speech i.n eith·..!r Detr.oit or Chi-

cag':C'I tve forgotten ,·:hich--in which he si.-:.ted pretty strong viel-ls opp~IGing 

the war   in Vietnam and what the Administration was doing with regard to 

the Vietnamese War.  For some strange unknown reason, that speech was 

not picked up in the national eedia and was not picked up by the wire 

services. About four or five days later, there was a little story on the 

front page of the Washington Post which said, "Five days ago Secretary 

Wirtz spoke in De troit, or Chicago (uhichever one it was), and expressed 

views against the Vietnam War. This is indication of lack of solidarity  lacl~ of solidarity 

of support  within the Cabinet within the Administration on the Vietnam  

war," and just told the whole story. After some checking, it was learned 

that this story had been leaked to the Washington Post by one of Wirtz' 

assistants; and apparently Wirtz has unhappy that he had gone to the trouble 

of taking a position against the Adminstration on Vietnam and it had not 

been reported. So he just got the story to the Hashin3ton Post, and had 
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it print it on the front page of the H'ashtngton~. That is the setting 

that has to do with the rest of this story. 

In early October, Joe Califano sent a memorandum to the President, 

and outlined all of the meetings that he, Gaither, Wirtz, Reynolds, 

Ruttenberg, and everyone else had had about this reorganization. 

I'm out of order again. Let me tell you one other thing hcfore I 

get to that memorandum. 

The President had decided that about 9cptember of 1968 was the begin-

ning of a transitional period frO!:l one President to anoth"_-. Obvious 1;-, 

at that time no one kne,.] 1.]hcther it was going to be Presi(~(':nt Nixon or 

President Humphrey, but President Johnson kne11 that ,-las about the beg;'~-

ning of a tr~nsitional period. He had definitely decided that it would 

not be the Vt'oiJer tiling to do for him to start any rnajor neH pro~~'::-'-::s or 

any rnajo"-' nel-l projects that he couldn rt complete, unless it ,'Jas just not 

possible to hold those over to another President. He said, "If itts all 

possible to hold any major ne,,] program or any major innovation or any 

major change over until a nc,v President comes in, I think out of fairness 

to hirr. and out of the orderly operation of this government, I ought to 

withhold action until a ne"7 President comes in and let him take a look 

at it. He'd going to be there for four years, and he's going to be the 

one that has to implement it. Hefs going to be the one that has to live 

w'ith \lhatever that problem or project or progra.r:l is." He had decided 

that. He h.:ld t.:llked to the Director of the Bureau of the Budget, and had 

told the Director of the Bure.:lu of the Budget to put that in writing in a 

memorarc','cli1' Co .:::.11 .:lgcncics and departments. And by late September h.:ld 
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ch~nges. It \Vas in the process of being \Vritten and sent out, but it 

had not been sent out at the time of the Wirtz episod(o. 

In any event, back to the early October--C,-:.lifano sent in a meoor-

andum relative to all the meetings that had transpired, and discussing 

with the President the reorganization of the Depa:!.:t:ment of Labor and the 

Manpm 7cr Development Training Program, and recornmended--and stated, that 

it ~oJ'as a recoTILTTle;·lation of all those whu had met that this program be 

reorganized--and asked the Presidentrs approval for the reorganization 

and for implementation of it. There ~vas a lit: Ie place at the bc:tom of 

his memo for approval--disapprovaL There also '.Jas aU':2.ched to that 

memorandum a suggested press release where the President would announce 

all these changes. Because of his vie,,, about starting nep program or 

making changes tmoJ'ard the end of the Adl:'ini.~tratio,:, coupled with his 

recollection of ,,,hat he had told the Governors, he checked "disaoprC'ved" 

and vlrote on the bottom of the memo: "No, I do not \Vant to put this 

progra...1J. into effect. II 

About five days later Califano sent in the second memorandum, 

explaining again the reasons for the program, saying that he had met 

again with ~oJirtz, Reynolds, Ruttenberg, and Gaither, I guess; and that it 

was their combined judgment that this was important to get started and 

get implemented. And again he asked the President's approval of it, and 

said: "If however you don't agree that we ought to do this, will you 

please see Under Secretary Reynolds so he can explain it to you, because 

Under Secretary Reynolds and Secretary Wirtz feel very strongly that this 

program ought to be il~o;plcr:,ent{)d." The President sent that memorandum 

back and said, "No, I do not want to put this program into effect," 
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and, "No, I do not want to see Under Secretary Reynolds about it. 

I've made up my mind." He sent that memorandum back, and that message 

was conveyed by Califano to Reynolds and to Wirtz. 
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Sorre bw or three days therG.:!fter, Hi thout Califano r s knot.Jledge, 

without G::ither's knowledge, without the knm"ledge of anybody in the '(mite 

House, Secretary Wirtz announced this reorganization, announced the 

changes and puL in motion all of the details to implement the reorgani-

zation. Califano an~ Gaither learned about it when they read about it in 

the paper. The President had apparently overlooked it in the paper, or 

didn't realize what it \..Tas if he sat·, it--

F: That's hard to believe. 

T: Well, it is hard to believe. The President learned about it the night 

it appean·d in the Hashinglon Post--the night of the morning it appeared 

in the Washington Post--when in his night reading he got a memorandum 

from Joe Califano telling him what had happened. The President saw that 

night reading about eleven o'clock at night. I'm advised from Califano 

who immediately got a telephone call from him that the President was 

substantially irritated, and asked if he--Califano--Jad delivered the 

President's earlier messages back to Wirtz and Reynolds. Califano assured 

him that he had. The President ask~d Califano why this was done. Cali-

fano said that he:: didn't know-- that it Has done ,vi thout his knovlledge 

at all. All he kneH about it was what he had seen in the paper, as 

Inll Rogers used to say, I guess. 

The President called Under Secretary Reynolds. First he called Bill 

Wirtz who ~as out of tOHn, coming back in late that night. He called 

Uncler Secrc !.:<:lry G.cynl)lus, [and] asked ?,cynolds if he had gotten the 
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President's message that this program was not to be implemented and the 

reorganization Has not to be approved. Reynolds said that he had gotten 

that message; had gotten it from Califano--

F: He told the President--he talked directly to the President? 

T: Right. Told the President directly. I, obviously, wasn't privy ~o that 

conversation except for 'tVhat the President told me the next morning. 

Under Secretary Reynolds told the President that he had gotten the 

message; he did understand it; he had delivered it to Wirtz; but that he 

had announced this reorganiz~tion and sta~ted to implement it at the 

direction of Secretary Wirtz who said that in spite of that message, 

that he was going to reorganize that department and implement it. 

Early the next morning ,,,hen I got to the bedroom the President 

recou this to me ~ was still very, ver~' unhappy~-

F: He hadn't talked to Wirtz directly? 

T: Had not talked to Wirtz directly. The President told me to call Joe 

Califano, to get Joe Califano to call Secretary Wirtz and to tell Wirtz 

that he the President wanted to meet with Wirtz that morning at eleven 

o 'clock. In the meantime he told me he wanted me to get familiar ,·lith 

the entire problem. At this point I didn't really know about it. To 

get familiar Hith the--

F: That's kind of a cram course, isn't it? 

T: --entire problem and have abailable for him by elev;n o'clock that 

morning a reemorandum stating to him the substantive and the procedural 

reasons Hhy this reorganization ought not to take place. Obviously the 

procedural rea.s·)nS are no clear.:lllce Hith the Governors, violative of his 

decision not to make neH changes during the transitional period. 
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. I did put together that memorandum on a very quick cram basis. At 

eleven o'clock the President, Secret;::try Wirtz, Joe Califano, and I met 

in the Cabinet Room. The President was sitting in the President's place 

at the Cabinet talle and Secretary Wirtz was seated irn:;nediately across 

from him at the place where the Vice President customarily sits during 

Cabinet meetings. 

F: Hhy in there instead of in the President's office? Is ther.; any psychology 

involved? 

T: I think it ivas a more formal sort of thing~ sitting across the table 

from each other as opposed to sitting around in thE: COl .. :hes in front of 

the fireplace. I noticed that Hh(~.· the President ;;::mtcd to be a little 

bit more forr::3.1 he met in the Cabinet Room, even if it ,·:ere ttvO people, 

or thrce~ or four, as in this ease. He obvioL:::ly could accommodate that 

many very comf.:rtably. 

F: That could make you feel a little isolated. 

T: Yes. The President, I thought, was amazingly caIn and amazingly collected 

throughout the entire meeting. He was clearly irritated and clearly 

mad earlier. There \Vasn' t any ques tion about his irritation and wrath 

earlier. 

F: I don't HaIlt to intrude on your story, but I think I've seen this. Hhen 

he is seething about something, does he deliber2.tely shift into a lower 

gear? 

T: Yes. 

F: Because I've seen soreetimes when I've thou~lt that his rage would b2 

white hot when he sce~cd his most deliberate and slow and careful. 

T: . That is correct. That ch.:lract~ri:.:cs his "'hole IT':)od :lnd .:::.ppear;::tncc and .:::.11 

. GtlPV f.BJ UBRARY' 
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on this occasion. 

The President didn't have any pleasantries. There Hasn't any of this 

"Hello, Bill, how are you"--"Fine, Mr. President." The President ~Jaited 

until Wirtz was there , and tVirtz ~.;ras seated and Califano ~yaS seated, and 

I was in the President's office, having gone over with him this memorandum. 

-He said, "Co",e in here and take notes. II I went in and I sat at the end 

of the Cabinet table. They ~'lere in the middle across from each other, 

and I was dm.;n at the end. 

F: He ~.;rouldn' t use a secretary like Juanita Roberts on something like this? 

T: No. 

F: He r d stick ,,]ith some',ody like you--

T: SGi~e inc.~perienced hand like me ~Jho doesn't really take shorthand. tve 

went in and the President just walked in without saying, "Hello, sit 

down," and said, "Bill, we've got a problem I ~'?ant to talk to you about. 

YOt! knmv ,·]hat it is." He said, "I told the Governors there ~Yould not by 

any reorganization that had an iIT.pact on their operations 'without prior 

consultation. Your reorganization does have that impact. They Here not 

consulted. 

"Secondly, I decided that there ~yas not going to be any late t'tvelfth 

hour changes in this govermrrent that could be held off until a ne'tl7 President 

came in, and what you did is contrary to that o 

IIThirdly, I gave specific instructions on two occasions tolhen inquiries 

were made of me about this program that the program 'was not to be put into 

effect and was not to be implemented. 

"Now Hhat I \·:ant to talk to you cJ)out is hm·] \·]e change ~"hat you've 

already done, and hou \'le put back the situation as it \'las prior to your 
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ac tinll yes ten~.~y. " 

Well, the first thing Wirtz did was to suggest that he hadn't really 

fully undcl-stood the President's message, and thcre 1;vas a littl;- conver-

sation about that. Upon some pretty rigid cross-examination by the Presi-

dent of sayh,g: "Joe, did you tell Wirtz ",hat I said on such-and-such 

occasion?" And Joe saying, "Yes," and Wirtz saying, "Well, I did get 

that message." After a little while it was apparent that Wirtz was ready 

to abandon his position that he didn't understand the message, because 

he obviou~ly did. 

The second position Wirtz had was that this re~.:ganization was a 

matter that did not requ~re Presidential approval~ that he had the authority 

to m~. thct reo~Janization and implem2nt it without geL~ing lnlite House 

approved. The President's response to that was, "Well, I don't think 

that's right, but even if it were right, you came to me twice and asked 

for approval; and I disa.pproved it twice. What you did was in direct 

conflict and direct violation of my instructions. I'm just not going to 

have that! Somebody has got to be the leader in this government, and 

I'm that guy. When I make a decision, that's the decision. And if you 

can overrule it, if you can violate my instructions, then we don't have a 

goverru;:ent. He don I t have somebody Hi th the responsibility of making 

decisions. So what I want to know is how we can undo what has been done 

and put it back." 

Wirtz sai.'-J: :11 don't knm-l. I'm not prepared to do that." 

F: Was he truculent or soft-spoken? 

T: Very soft-spoken, puffing on his pipe. It was all a 1ow voice operation 

bet'.Jeen tho t::o 0:': tbcr.l--a.nd a very clin:ct a".d pointed confrontation. 
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Wirtz said: "I think this progr.:tEi is ri~;11t. I think it' s what ought to 

be done. I think from a mej:it standpoir,t.: thi;:; is the way the department 

ought to be organized." 

The President said, "I'm not prepared to argue the merits with 

you. I'm not tellin.:::, you th::~t you're right or you're Hrong. You may be 

right. It may be a good prog:':lm, bu t if it is the next Secretary of, 

Labor and the next President will recognize the merit of it, and they'll 

put it in. If you're w'rong, it'll stand that test. I'm not talking to' 

you about the merits of it. r'm just telling you whether it's a good 

program or a bad progra.r.'., itrs not going to be a E':'.'" pl',.gram. It's not 

going to be a, '''oved right no;'. You're going to unapprove it." 

Wirtz said: r~vell, I rm af;:'aid the next President I!;':"ght not put it 

in." 

The President said, "That's immaterial to rne.. What I'm telling you 

is that I have disapproved it and it's  not going to go in. Now wve've 

got to undo it." 

Wirtz said: "No, sir, I will not undo it." 

The President said: "Well, we have to have somebody who makes the 

decisions in this government, and that's me. I have tuld the Governors 

that no changes will be made; and no changes are going to be made, Bill. 

We're going to undo this, and I'm telling you--we will undo it." 

Wirtz said, "Well, why don't you tell the Governors that I did it, 

and you can make me the son-of-a-bitch, and that it Has done by the 

Secre tary of Labor, and the President didn't have anything to do ,vith it?" 

The President said: "I can't do that, ancl I won't do that because 

it ca;:~e to the White House blice to me and I disapproved it. Now, you 
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undo it and you tell me hOly ~'7Crrc going to undo it." 

lVirtz said: "I'm not prepZll.:'cd to do that, and I uon't do that." 

The Presid.::nt said: "\.Jell, if you won't, then He will get somebo'<>, 

in there Hho can undo it and who Hill undo it." 

Wirtz said, l~.Jell, then that's ~.;rhat you're going to have to'do. 11 

The Presid·. at said: 111 assum~ then that I will have your resignation." 

Wirtz said: "I think you have my resignation already on file, 

don't you? Didn't all of us submit resignations to you when we took 

office that was acceptable at your pleasure?" 

The President said: "I don't know, but if your resignation is here, 

it's accepted. If it's not, then I will expec" to have one from y: '." 

lVirtz said: "If you don't have one over h'2re, another one will not 

be forthcomin:;. You can fire me if you want to!" 

The President s;:-cid, "I don't ",ant to fire anybody. That sound::: like 

removing p'2.ople, like removing demoE'trators; and I don't want to do that. 

That's not becoming of your office or mine. I ,viII expect a resignation 

from you." 

Wirtz again said: "It ~.,ill not be forthcoming." 

Thc PreSident, obviously alluding to the Chicago or Detroit speech, 

said: "BUl, there are a lot of people that think that you've been trying 

to put yourself in a position of ",anting to be removed, or wanting to be 

a mC'.rtyr, or "73.nting to have me do something about you for some time 

on oth2r areas. II 

lhrtz said: I~"'ell, I hope you knOH that's not true, Hr. Presid(!nt. lI 

The President said, "I don't know what is or isn't true. I'm just 

:: 1::10'.: the situ;J.l:ion to , DC:. I just Hill so.y again, if YOlll'" 
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rC5ignntion is here, it's accepted; if it's not here, I will expect one 

by tl end of the day," and got up and left. 

He motioned for me to follmy him, which I did, and I assume that 

l-Hrt_' then went au l: of the office. I went into the President r s office 

with him and in sort of a quizzical Hay--and not really a mad ,-la;'--he 

really was amazingJy ,vell composed. I think more than I 'tvould have been 

under the c ircums tances. He said: '~fuat do you make of that?" 

I said: IlHr. PresideEt, I don't believe 'ivhat I just saw. I dC,.-l't 

believe I ever "]Quld have thought th.::::.t anything like that would transpire." 

He said: "I want you to check and see if we have his resignation. 

I hate 1 ike he 11 to do this because I think it! s a mistake at this late 

hour of th2 Admi~istration to be doing this s~~t of thing, but let's 

checlc and see if his resignation is here." 

~-) we checked and there ,,;as a resignation that, as I recall, was like 

late '64--after the President's election in 1964. And it was just there 

on file, and it says: "I hereby resign effective, at your pleasure." 

I think it may have said lIin accordance 'i.;ith custom and policy, I submit 

this resignation to be accepted at your pleasure." The President said, 

well, he didr. r t think that Has really satisfactory, and he said that he 

wanted me to check and see what the precedent was for removing Cabinet 

officials. 

I called Warren Christopher at the Department of Justice, told Warren 

that we wanted quick research on the precedents of removing a Cabinet 

official. He undertook andthen later gave me a memorandum for the Presi-

dent shm-:ing v7hen in history a P:~C!sident had removed a Cabinet of£icial--

I think in a couple of cases, maybe non-Cabinet officials, but heads of agencies • 
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At about that sm::c time that ~{<lrren started ,::-;rkillg on that, the 

President called r..'-';~lSC:y Cl<lrk to tell hir~ 'tvhat had hapF'Hed, and to also 

talk to him about the legal i~plications of it. 

R<lmsey had gone to New York for some kind of a speech and some kind 

of a meeting. The President recalled--Let me just say as an asid~: T!'2 

President has a Health of information that he just stores a'tvay that 

seemingly is of no value, but all of a sudden turns out to be at a later 

time. He suddenly recalled that somebody had told him sever<ll years 

earlier that W3.rren Christopher and Bill Wirtz 't·]ere good friends, and that 

something Christopher had done had elicited Hords of praise from Wirtz, 

and that Wirtz was very fond of and had great res~~c~ for Warren Chri~to-

pher. So \·]hen R:313e:y Has gone, the President t~' ~_ked to ~'larren, recou~:::~d 

the entire episode to him, and said, "You and Bill Wirtz aLoe friends, 

aren't you?" He said, "Well, I want you to go talk to Bill Wirtz, and 

tell hin thilt he -,-'eally ought to reconsider, o.ud to remove \,;that he has 

done, change the si~uation. I don't want to fire him, and I don't want 

to acce;,t his resignation. I'm prepared to do that if I have to, because 

nobody can defy the President's orders. He jus t can ft have a continuity 

of governrr,ent by somebody defying the President's orders> particularly 

a Cabine t offi.c ial. So encoura~e him to change his mind and to wi thdra,'] 

Hhat he haa clone end put the situation back like it Has. But if he 

,'lOn't, then ilsk hi::; for a: ,ther letter of resignation. He says he von' t 

give it becGmse he Hants me to remove him. He ,vants to be a martyr. 

He w,,,:ts to get t!10 publicity. But c):plain to him that that's not the Hay 

to run a government, and that's not the posture he wants to put himself in, 

and that's not the posture he wants to put his President in. Tell him the 
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gcntlemantly thing and the appropriate thing and the proper thing is to 

submit another letter of resignation." 

Warren Ch!.ls topher said thut he Hould do that and did go. I was 

there whe;l he talked to Ivarren on" the telephone because I guess I was 

there at th~; s tart he kept mo in on all of this. 

By this point the President was just getting all sorts of letters 

and wires fro~ Governors, just irate about: this. He got one from Buford 

Ellington, the C~vcrnor of Tennessee, ,.;ho was chairman of the National 

Governors ("onfe~nce, speaking for all of the GO','ernors, just insisting 

that the action 0: the Secretary of Lubor be rescir,:led. 

At a::'ut the sar.:::: time Ivarren Christopher wa.s talking to Wirtz, the 

l";:-esidcilt als;. r('c.;.alLd thz.!- the relationship bet:,een Secretary Wirtz and 

Secretary Clark Clifford Has good. Obviously this isn't a Secretary of 

Defense problem. It I S more of an Atto1:lwy General's pr., blem th~ a 
~ 

But the President biked to C'; ',:k Clifford and told 
'" 

Secretary of Defense. 

Clark about what had tran :pired, to the great shock of Clark Clifford. 

The Prt=.sident tallze:d a little bit more politicallY'Hith Clark about it, 

and said: "You know, I'm prepared to do this; and I am willing to carry 

it through, but I really hate to do it because it's unfair to Humphrey. 

If this comes out, there'll be a great outcry that I'm purging the members 

of my Administration Hho disagree with Vietnam. It'll have an adverse 

impact on his campaign, and that's not fair to him. I want you to go to 

talk to Wirtz. Wirtz professes to be for Humphrey. I want you to go talk 

to Wirtz, and tell him that if he is really for Humphrey, he ought not to 

give him this black mark. Changing his order and going back to where we  blac~  

were isn r t Going to he Ip Humphrey any, but leaving it as it is and requiring 
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me to accept him resignation or fire him, as the case may be, is going 

to have an advertise impact on Humphrey's campaign; and maybe that will 

be appealing to him." In any event, the Secretary of Defense did go 

talk to Secretary Wirtz, as did Warren Christopher a couple of times. 

Late in the evening of this very same day we finally got a letter 

from ·'-tz. He had changed his mind about "\omnting to be fired. He got 

a letter from Wirtz that said something to the general effect of "Dear 

Mr. J~esident: Because you have instructed me to do something ,~ith 

reg.-"d to the reorganization of this Department that I don't feel I 

can carry out in [,'-od conscience, and because I disagrc e \lith 

it, I am hereby su;.,:l:",-tting to you my resignL.!.:ion effe(;tive immediately." 

F: Not c:':c~ctly the kind of lett0r you H2:'.t in the~, is it? 

T: It' ~_ not ex;:;.,. dy tlte kind of letter, and obvious ly that was a new letter. 

We had crossed th~ bridge of the pro!Jlem of having to fire him. Pov this 

point we had the pr~~2dents for firing. There was no question but that 

the President has that auth:,rity. If he just Hants to fire somebody, 

I think that can be done as He may have se(;n recently by President Nixon. 

So "le've crossed the bridge of the firing, and have gotten the letter 

of resignation, but that still was not satisfactory to the President 

because he didn't ,.;ant to create this kind of a furor tOHard the end of 

his Administration. 

So he again sent Warren Christopher, and again sent Clark Clifford, 

to see Wirtz to urge him to Hithdra"j that letter of rcsignation and to 

,,,ithdra';; his action 011 the reorganizo.tion--rescind Hhat he h~d done; one, 

in order not to have an adverse impact on the Humphrey campaign, and two, 

jus t because thel t F2.S no t thc: ki nJ 0:[ ,-lay that lw thou;~ht ~-Jirtz ,~anted to 
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out of the Cabinet. 

After some considerable discussion t-lirtz agreed--nevcr having had 

another convers; I~ion with the President about any of this. All the 

conversations were second and third-hand. He agreed to withdrmY' his 

letter of resignnL:'on, and ago :oed to rescind Hhat he had done about the 

reorganization until the c.::mpaign ~vas over. He told liarren Christopher 

that, "As soon as the November election is behind us, I an~ going to 

resign. I am going to submit my letter of resignation to the President. 

I am going to advise him that I am resigning because of disagree:: :: on 

the reorganization. rl That -lette:r was neve forthcoming. That was the 

end of that episode--nobody ever discussed it. Obviously, th~: Goverb")rt; 

Here h.::.ppy about pu ,-ting thin;s back as they -Here. Nobody (ver dis-:ussed 

it thereafter, and there ~Jas no letter that ever came from IV'L:tz. l-lirtz 

never offered to resign again. 

F: What did Wirtz do-- just cancel his order? 

T: He cancelled his order, announced that he waS halting the implementation, 

and rescinding -'(o]hat had beer done, and putting it back. I think the 

truth of the matter is if you look at the Department of Labor very closely, 

you'll see that, while he rescinded his order, he did everything he could 

to take steps to implement Hhat he wanted to do ~vithout really having a 

complete reorganization. 

F: He did it without making a policy out of it. 

T: Right, but he didn't really accomplish Hh~ t he wanted to do. He just 

started t;J.king s tc.: : tm-lnrd thnt. I t may be that--I haven't follm-led 

it, I don I t knmv--it mo.)' ·be th;J.t ~-]h;J.t he ~-.7anted to do Has the right thing 

to do on r.crit. It may! be tlwt Secretary [Charles[ Schultze has done that 
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nml, I don't knm.'. The President nev·-'r uas really cOr!cerned ,-lith the 

rightness or wrongnc:ss of the program itself. 

F: Well now, the President has asked in this case for Wirtz' resignation, 

says that it wil1 be accepted. Nmv then he's moving heaven and earth, or 

at least a couple of friends of Wirtz', to get him not to resign. Does 

this inconsistency bother the President because he's having to reverse 

himself. It's a closed sort of thing. 

T: No. 

F: Wirtz has got to reverse himself publicly, but the President is reversing 

himself to you and Wirtz and Reynolds and everybody who knows about it. 

T: I don't think [so] really. Because the President was saying that, ''You're 

either going to undo what bas been done, or I will put somebody in there 

who can and will undo it." When Wirtz says, "I'm not going to undo 

it," then the President is saying--. I think ,-lhat he really meant vlaS 

t~is--. He didn r t put it this I-lay, but this ,;.::.s the 'tvay I understood it--

that "if you refuse to comply v7i th the insi-:;7uctions and orders I give 

you, the::! I Hant your resignation; and if it's here, I accept it." 

You never get to the latter part of that statement, because Wirtz ulti-

mately decided that he Houid undo what had been done, and he "tveuld follm., 

the Presiden~'s instructions. So you never quite get to the last part. 

I never felt that the President Has reversing his field. I felt he took 

a very hard, strong position, and Wirtz took a very hard, strong position, 

and l.;irtz 'JackeL off. 

F: \1as Hir tz kind of a quie tly s tub:;orn man? 

T: Yc';. Fa;:-:: of the proh le,,~ here is that--. You knoH, I guess everyone 

who reaches any high point in public life is a prima donna so to speak in 
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some form or another, wllCther they're a Uhitc House staff mCI:ll;:::r or 

Cabinc t member. But one of the problems was that it \v<!S common kno"lledge 

around the White House that Bill Wirtz was one of the individuals ylho 

did not want to get any kind of instructions or orders or information of 

any kind from any White House staff member. He thought he was a Cabinet 

member and he talked and dealt only with the President. If the President 

hac anything to tell him or say to him, that the President ought to call 

him directly. If he had anything to tell the President, he didn't want 

to go through me or Joe Califano or anybod~ else. There may have been a 

little bit of conflict betueen hin and Califano because of having ~.) go 

t"hrough Cali.fano on some things. 

F: I gather that :1,~ :.:m ,.;ere not ,·,hat you might call close congenial fr5_ends. 

Did YO'_l gel: a f.:.,,"ling t~ t Cabinet I'i!'2n in one sense wear out--that th~"ir 

nerve or their drive got -- that there ought to be somewhat regular 

turnovers? You missed the McNanara resignation, didn't you? 

T: No, I was there for the McNamara resignation. I was going to consent 

about that 2nd one other one. I don't knOiv about wear out and turnover. 

I do knm·; about ,·7ear out. I ,·]ant to say sO:l:ething about that. I don't 

knmv about turnover because if you say turnover, you knmv--hm.; often? 

Two years? Four years? 

F: Of course, obviously you have varying times with varying people. 

T: Right. Nobody really. has the a,.;resome) overpmvering burden that the Presi-

dent has) and \.,e're going to elect him for eight years mo...ximum, or ten 

years I guess under the Constitutional provision if you serve part of a 

term. So I don't len,]"<;.] about that turnover. They get tired. I noticed 

that Sccre t;lry 1.Jc?·;amara Has a very tired man. I noticed that ,·,hen I 
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when I first got t!f- there. I noticed his tiredness may have only heen 

exceeded by Secretary Rusk, who in my mind and judc:-:'~nt is one of the 

great men in this country; because he just trodded along and did I think 

a yeoman's job day-in and day-out. He obviously ~vas a visibly tired man 

who had carried this burc.~-.'n and responsibility for the foreign policy 

of this country for ultimately eight years--seven years at the time I 

first saw him, sb--and-a-half. I noticed both of them ,-7ere very tired. 

Obviously, the ',\lcre other members of the Cabinet that ,Jere newer and 

fresher and weran't quite as tired as they were. 

I was not surprisc'l to see Secretary McNamara res"ign and take the 

World B~-;,;: position, because I think he felt like he \-;-_ ;; all spent ~dth 

\vhat : '" h02 :~( cont:::-ibute. I think he ,vas a sufficier .. i:ly proud man th.:;~-

he didn't \,'~~ilL: to keep on when he just ,lac. all sper,i:. I Husn ft in on all 

of the activity relative to his resignation, but I don't think there was 

any resignation because of J.isagreement or anything like that. He just 

was tired nrrd was ready to do something else. So I do think that 

he was glad to have the opportunity to move on to the World Bank. 

F: Ivas it as esotional a resignation c~remony as it has been depicted? 

T: Very, very emotional. When the President had a ceremony in the East 

Room of the White House--which \-las a pa~ked house by the way, people just 

clambering to get in--more so than a lot of activities. He said a lot of 

very effusive kind generous 1;\lords about Secretary McNamara. McNamara, 

~'7ith tears streaming dmm his face and a choked-up voice, just said, 

"Thank you. I can't say what I want to say now. I will some other time." 

And that ';';ClS the end of his statel'L2nt, it obv -ously H.:lS a very emotional 

tir;e for hi.m. It ,\·;as an emotion:::l tir::c fol. ::he Presidc",nt. You knmv, you 
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have onc of your really key people. It's not like--wc 11--

F: The Secrc t2.ry of Corrrrncrcc--

T: Well, I was just going to say not like the Secretary of Commerce. Sandy 

Tro~oJ'bridge had to rsign because of doctors' orders. He had n heart 

problem, heart mUri:,ur. The Presidc· t was devoted to S.::ndy and liked him 

and Has sorry he Has resiG;:ling, but it wasn f t quite the: emotional buildup 

that a McNam~ra Has. So it ylaS difficult from eVl ::ybody's standpoint. 

Of course, the President had the additional problem of trying to decide 

'-lho he was going to put in this very key role--very key Cabinet position. 

F: Did he consider seriously, as far as you know, anyone other than Clifford? 

T: He 11, I don 't kn.::>,,,, because again, as I ind< cated to you yesterday, Lyndon 

JolL':on is a fellm·! \o7ho keeps fairly close counsel. You never really 

knc:·; l.;rhe:::ic: .. : he I s considering other people or l-lhether hers just throwing 

their names out to see what kind of reaction he's going to get. 

F: I knoH in sOIr.c:t1\ing like that he can thrm·1 out twenty possibilities, you 

knmv, so that you can't get a handle on anyone. 

T: Names like Cy Vai,ce and some others did come up. Clifford r s wasn r t the 

only name that came up, and I did hear the President talk about Some of 

those other people. But he may have decided at the very outset that he 

was going to appoint Clifford. A lot of times I think what the President 

did--he never said this was what he Has doing--but I think loJ'hat he did 

was make up his mind who he wanted to appoint and then go through the 

process of deliberation and trying names just to eliminate everybody else 

to come back to tbe fellow he started with just to be sure he was right. 

F: Kind of a chcck-off list. 

T: Yes, to prove the correctness of uhat he was thinking about doing. 

\ 

COpy iBJ 1.JBRARy:1 

LBJ Presidential Library 
http://www.lbjlibrary.org

ORAL HISTORY TRANSCRIPT 
Lyndon B. Johnson Library Oral Histories [NAID 24617781]

More on LBJ Library oral histories: 
http://discoverlbj.org/exhibits/show/loh/oh



---I~ 
40 

F: Let's go back to your job perse. Of course, all of this is part of your 

position. Wilen you moved into the appoir..: ',nts r arl'a~ did this make any 

great c.!·angc in what you had been doing. Also, hm·] did you and Jim 

Jones work out your sort of fences so that you didn't fall into each 

other's yards? 

T: It really didn't make a 'whole lot of change to what I had been doing~ 

because even when Narvin -- I was there I ~"as relieving Harvin, so to speak, 

on the appointmen-::s' desk. You'll recall that in the office irnm3diately 

west of the President's office, which is where Marvin was and Jim Jones 

later was and which was the office immediately adjoining mine, the people 

who came in to see the President came through that office. The man who 

took care of the President's appointments really had the responsibility, 

which he could delegate, of getting word to the people when they were to 

be there, and getting them cleared into the White House gate. The sec:.~-

taries looked after that. That wasn't a detail that had to be looked 

after by Narvin, or ~vhoever Has taking his place. But that individual 

then brought the people into the President's office and tried to keep 

the President on schedule by--maybe if the individual Has supposed to be 

there at 1 :30 and he Ivas taken in at 1 :30, and another appointment .,7as 

there for 1 :45, at 1 :45 Marvin or I or vlhoever ",as there would go in 't-lith 

a note to the President saying, "Your 1:45 appointment is here." ThtLt 

would be designed to kind of keep things moving--to get the guy ,.;rho was 

in there out so to speak. 

Well, that sometimes didn't work bc:.;,:use the guy that was going to be 

there for fifteen or t~,]enty or thiJ.:ty minutes might be in the: midst of 

telling the Presiucnt something he really Hanted to hear, and the President 
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was not ready to terminate it. Or the President mLght have something he 

wanted to ask that man that would protract it and delay it. Several times 

we'd go back in three or four times bc:[ore we got a man moved out--

moved out not in an unkind sense. 

But I was Horking ~vith Harvin prior to the time Harvin left'" in 

doing that. For exar;:?;_~, }larvin and I were switching Hith 'tvhat we called 

late nights. Jim Jones and I later switched \vith what we called late 

nights. What that meant was that one of the two of us--either Marvin or 

I in one case, or Jim and I on the other--had the responsibility of staying 

there at least until the Presidcnt left. The other, who had a so-called 

early night, could leave whenever he got his job done--and that getting 

your job done and leaving, you early night might be eight or eight-thirty 

in getting away from the White House; whereas the late night, very, very 

frequently could be as late as one or two, particularly if at ten-

thirty or eleven the President said, "Well, I'm going to go eat supper 

now. Why don't you come eat with me ." You just have a continuation 

in his dining room of colloquy and work of the day. 

So I had already begun that with Marvin. I would relieve him at 

lunch time and handle the people going in and out, and responding to the 

in of the President's ring. When he'd see something come across the ticker 

tape or he'd have some general instructions, if he didn't think of anybody 

else, usually he would just ring whoever was outside his office--Marvin 

or Jim or me, and say, "I see on the ticker tape AP 131 that the Secretary 

of Corrmerce has made some announcement. Find out the details about that." 

Or that sort of thing.. Or, "Call the Attorney General, and tell him I 

\.]ant to see him this afternoon'." Son~cthing may have just come up that he 

. COPY I.9J UBRAR{;f 
---",..." 
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had tlJ~",ght about--that sort of thing. But I ,.,as doing that anY1.;ay, 

relieving V-:1.-vin, and morc than just at lunch or in the evening; I'd 

be doing it someti!::~s during the day if Harvin would have SOrr.2 kind of 

meeting he thought he had to be at. Jim and I ostensibly took over the 

appoinbnent3. Tile truth is that, wlli le from exteriol.' purposes that might 

have been the appearance, Jim ,.,as doing it and I -,;.,as relieving him. He 

still had the bulk of the rGspollsibility. He ,.,as still sitting at that 

de!:;k handling that except Hhen I relieved him. So it vIas really a 

continuation of what ,.,as done before. 

F: There "Jere, cho' s leveled tIl,:'~: Mnrvin, particularly, screened people to 

see the Pj',?,-Ldent insofar as possible--I realize tl.at IS not entirely 

possible--sc th2.t they tend.~d to represent Harvin I s rather ,.;re ll-kno~m 

conservative vic '.~poirlt8; and that Harvin scrcend out the liberals. Did 

you get any feeling of this, or ,vas this just--? 

T: Yes. I got the feeling that it couldnft be further from the truth. 

Everybody th .. t ever asked to see Lyndon Johnson, within reason--rlo"t'1 let 

me say--

F: Not the guys that knocked on the gate. 

T: Yes. If Joe Doakes from Pflugerville, Texas, would write up and say, 

"I sure would like to see you," well, that wouldn't get to him. But any 

agency head, any member of Congress, anybody of any position who ever 

asked to see the President had that request go to the President. The 

President was the onc who made the decisions of who he would see and who 

he would not see. 

F: Did the President buck some of those back to specific people like "have 

Califano see him?" 
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T: Yes, exactly. But in the Prc!siucnt' s night reading, which went into him 

every night--a pacl~::lt;e of inforl71C!tion--memos that he had to have action on. 

Lih:: the Califano memo or just for reading inform~t:ior.al purposes that 

didn't require any action--there would be in every night's night reading 

at least one or mar, memos about people that ';vanted to see him, saying 

"Do you ,;van t to Sf": this man? Yes, No." 

F: Knmving his ten' ncy for runnin;; overtime l-lith people, did you tend to 

leave some soft s1-'ots in his' schedule so that you could from time-to-

tir.:c ge t back on schedule? 

T: Sure. The one thing tl'2 Appointments r Sncretary did do ~,.-as to schedule 

the people 2.':"ter th(.: PresicLnt said he would sec them. Once that schedt:le 

,vas put togethGr--I:hich individual he would see and at what time--then 

that overall schedule ~"ent back in to the President for his approval. 

By-and-large he approved it ~vith some e:-cceptions. Sure, there would be 

some soft spots left because in any day's time, you kn(l~l that during the 

day he is going to Hant to see somebody ,;"ho is not on th,- t schedule in 

addition to the running over on time. Well, for example, just the Wirtz 

thing I was just telling you about. He had an appointment at eleven 

o'clock that day. Well, that was just pl'~~ off. And most of the day was 

consumed ,-lith that little episode. It 't-laan' t a little episode--a very 

major episode. 
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